FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/1/2020 3:58 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/2/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>98717-3</u> (Court of Appeals No. 79565-1-I)

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

OSCAR CHURAPE-MARTINEZ,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SAN JUAN COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DEVON KNOWLES Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711 devon@washapp.org

#

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
B.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# **Washington Supreme Court Washington Court of Appeals Other Jurisdictions United States Constitution** U.S. Const. amend. VI **Washington Constitution** Const. art. I, § 22......6 Rules

#### A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW</u>

Oscar Churape-Martinez, Appellant, asks this Court to review the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Churape-Martinez*, No. 79565-1-I (filed June 1, 2019). A copy of the opinion is attached as an Appendix.

## B. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. Both the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution prohibit a defendant from being convicted of an uncharged offense. The Information in this case charged Mr. Churape-Martinez with malicious mischief based specifically upon damage done to a door and mirror belonging to Mr. Morrison, but presented evidence of other damaged items and other possible owners. Is a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions involved where the to-convict instruction failed to identify either the owner or the item damaged, allowing Mr. Churape-Martinez to be convicted of an uncharged offense?
- 2. The Respondent concedes that the prosecutor in this case misstated the law by arguing that the jury should convict Mr. Churape-Martinez of residential burglary based upon the predicate offense of criminal trespass. Is a significant question of law involved where the misconduct substantially affected the verdict by directly undermining Mr. Churape-Martinez's sole defense?

# C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Underlying events

Oscar Churape-Martinez was afraid; his girlfriend, Maisey
Bradley, was in withdrawal and not opening the door. RP 171, 177. Earlier
that day, Ms. Bradley fought with Mr. Churape-Martinez over her
substance use and went to stay with her sister and her sister's friend, Jacob
Morrison. RP 150-51, 170. Ms. Bradley was coming off of drugs and was
sick, and fell asleep when she arrived. RP 170-71, 177. Mr. ChurapeMartinez went to find her and, after she did not answer the door, he forced
the lock, causing damage to the door handle and door frame. RP 155, 161,
171.

Ms. Bradley woke up when Mr. Churape-Martinez entered the bedroom. RP 171-72. Mr. Churape-Martinez felt that the home was not a good place Ms. Bradley to spend time and wanted her to leave with him. RP 172. The two began to fight, and a mirror and desk fan were damaged in the altercation. RP 173-74. Although Ms. Bradley did not initially want to leave with Mr. Churape-Martinez, she eventually walked to his car and the two left together. RP 177.

Once in the car, Mr. Martinez began to drive erratically. RP 179-81. Ms. Bradley told him she wanted to get out of the car, and asked him to slow down and to take her to her mother's house. RP 177-79.

Meanwhile, law enforcement observed the vehicle and attempted to stop Mr. Churape-Martinez. RP 182. He continued to drive, but was arrested after pulling into a nearby driveway. RP 182, 288-89.

The State charged Mr. Churape-Martinez with residential burglary, unlawful imprisonment, attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, and third-degree malicious mischief. CP 4-6. The Information specified that, for the malicious mischief charge, the property damaged was a mirror and a door/doorframe, both belonging to Mr. Morrison. CP 5-6.

#### 2. Trial proceedings.

Mr. Churape-Martinez exercised his right not to testify at trial. *See*, *generally*, RP. Thus, the only eye-witness testimony regarding the circumstances of his entry and the subsequent events inside the residence came from Ms. Bradley. According to Ms. Bradley, Mr. Churape-Martinez came into the house because he was afraid when no one responded to his knocking. RP 171. Ms. Bradley implied that Mr. Churape-Martinez broke the mirror during their subsequent argument, but did not describe how the mirror was broken or give any further details regarding the argument. *See* RP 172-74.

Ms. Bradley believed Mr. Churape-Martinez's intention was only to help her. RP 175. She was explicit that Mr. Churape-Martinez never forced her to leave and she didn't believe he would have forced her to

leave. RP 173. Although she testified that she "probably" felt slightly threatened, Mr. Churape-Martinez did not verbally threaten her with consequences if she did not come with him. RP 174-75. Mr. Churape-Martinez vaguely mentioned that he had a gun, but Ms. Bradley testified it was obvious that he was lying and she did not believe he actually possessed a firearm. RP 175-76. He did not physically force her out of the home, and the two walked outside together and got into his car. RP 177-78.

The State called the homeowner, Mr. Morrison, and Ms. Bradley's sister, Mikkiah, <sup>1</sup> to testify regarding the damaged property. Mikkiah and Mr. Morrison left the home after Ms. Bradley fell asleep, and the doorknob and lock were broken when they returned. RP 136. The bedroom was also in disarray, with a broken mirror and fan. RP 203. Mr. Morrison stated that he received the mirror for free. RP 156. Mikkiah, however, testified that the mirror was hers and was brand new. RP 141. The State also questioned Mr. Morrison about the broken desk fan, which he estimated was valued at approximately \$30. RP 156.

Mr. Churape-Martinez's entire defense to the residential burglary charge was that the State failed to prove he intended to commit a crime

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mikkiah Bradley is referred to herein as "Mikkiah" to avoid confusion.

when he entered the residence. *See* RP 330-31. In closing, defense counsel conceded that, because Mr. Morrison did not give Mr. Churape-Martinez permission to enter the home, the State met its burden to establish the element of unlawful entry. RP 330. The prosecution responded by arguing that Mr. Churape-Martinez's intent to break the door and the act of criminal trespass could both satisfy the second element of intent to commit a crime therein. RP 335.

Although the Information charging malicious mischief included only the mirror and door as the damaged property, the prosecutor argued that the jury should also find Mr. Churape-Martinez guilty based on damage caused to the fan. RP 325. The jury instructions did not list the specific property or property owner. CP 38.

The jury found Mr. Churape-Martinez guilty on all counts. CP 48-51. The Court of Appeals affirmed. Opinion at 15.

#### D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The violation of Mr. Churape-Martinez's constitutional right not to be convicted of an uncharged crime warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

In failing to identify the property owner or specific property damaged, the to-convict instruction for malicious mischief allowed Mr.

Churape-Martinez to be convicted of an uncharged crime. Both the Sixth

Amendment and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee defendants in criminal proceedings the right to be informed of the nature of the charges against them. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22. "It is a well-settled rule in this state that a party cannot be convicted for an offense with which he was not charged." *State v. Garcia*, 65 Wn. App. 681, 686, 829 P.2d 241 (1992); *see also Von Atkinson v. Smith*, 575 F.2d 819 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1978) ("It is axiomatic that due process does not permit one to be tried, convicted or sentenced for a crime with which he has not been charged or about which he has not been properly notified"). Thus, where the charging document alleges one crime, it is constitutional error to instruct the jury on a different, uncharged crime. *State v. Kirwin*, 166 Wn. App. 659, 669, 271 P.3d 310 (2012).

As a corollary to this rule, Washington courts have held that once the charging document identifies specific conduct or a specific victim as a basis of a charge – even if not an essential element of the offense – jury instructions cannot be worded in a way that would allow for conviction based upon other, uncharged conduct. For example, in *State v. Jain*, the State charged the defendant with money laundering, listing two specific properties in connection with the charge. 151 Wn. App. 117, 121-23, 210 P.3d 1061 (2009). At trial, however, the State presented evidence of money laundering involving five properties and the jury instructions failed

to identify any specific property. *Id.* at 123. This Court reversed, finding that "the jury . . . could have returned a guilty verdict by finding that Jain committed acts [as to properties] not charged in the information." *Id.* at 124.

Similarly, in *State v. Brown*, the defendant's convictions were reversed after the jury instructions failed to identify the specific coconspirators elected in the Information. 45 Wn. App. 571, 575-76, 726 P.2d 60 (1986). While the identities of the coconspirators were not an essential element of the offense, once the State specifically named individuals in the charging document, jury instructions could not allow convictions based upon conspiracy with additional or differing coconspirators. *Id.* at 577; *see also State v. Stark*, 158 Wn. App. 952, 244 P.3d 433 (2010) (same); *State v. Morales*, 174 Wn. App. 370, 383-84, 298 P.3d 791 (2013) (jury improperly allowed to convict defendant of uncharged alternative where Information listed single victim of harassment but to-convict instruction identified two possible victims).

In this case, the Information alleged Mr. Churape-Martinez committed malicious mischief by causing physical damage to a "door and/or frame and/or mirror belonging to Jacob Morrison." CP 5-6. The charging document makes no reference to a desk fan or property belonging to Mikkiah. CP 5-6.

Yet, the State presented evidence relating to both uncharged victims and uncharged items. First, although Mr. Morrison testified he received the used mirror for free, Mikkiah testified that the broken mirror belonged to her, and that it was "brand new." RP 136-37, 141, 156.

Second, the prosecutor emphasized the damage to the fan throughout the case, beginning in her opening argument. RP 117. She elicited testimony from Mr. Morrison that both a mirror and a fan were broken, the type of fan, verified that it belonged to Mr. Morrison, and asked Mr. Morrison to estimate the specific value of the fan, which he estimated as \$30. RP 156. The prosecutor raised the issue yet again in closing, arguing that Mr. Churape-Martinez was guilty of malicious mischief because, in addition to other property, "he broke the fan." RP 325. Defense counsel compounded the error, arguing that there was little doubt as to the malicious mischief charge because Mr. Churape-Martinez "broke[] the mirror and the fan." RP 328.

The to-convict instruction required the State to prove only that Mr. Churape-Martinez knowingly and maliciously caused physical damage "to the property of another[.]" CP 38. In so doing, the instruction allowed Mr. Churape-Martinez to be convicted of a damaging the mirror, even if the jury believed it belonged to Mikkiah, and of damaging Mr. Morrison's fan, crimes for which Mr. Churape-Martinez was never charged.

The instructional error was undoubtedly prejudicial. "When the jury is instructed on an uncharged crime, a new trial is appropriate when it is possible that the defendant was mistakenly convicted of an uncharged crime." *Kirwin*, 166 Wn. App. at 669. Given the arguments and evidence at trial, the jury was able to find Mr. Churape-Martinez guilty of malicious mischief regardless of who it believed owned the mirror. It is certainly *possible* that the jury believed that Mikkiah – and not Mr. Morrison – was the true owner of the mirror. It is also likely that the jury verdict rested, in part, on damage to the fan.<sup>2</sup>

In focusing on whether Mr. Churape-Martinez engaged in a continuing course of conduct, the Court of Appeals erroneously framed the issue of one of jury unanimity. *See* Opinion at 9-13. The question here is not whether Mr. Churape-Martinez committed multiple acts of malicious mischief but whether he was convicted of an act of malicious mischief encompassed within the Information.

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' conclusion, Mr. Churape-Martinez' case is analogous to *Jain*, and similarly requires reversal.

Opinion at 12. The *Jain* Court, although noting that the instructions violated Mr. Jain's right to a unanimous jury, reversed the conviction as a

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It is questionable whether the jury would have found Mr. Churape-Martinez guilty of malicious mischief based upon damage to the door given Ms. Bradley's testimony that he broke the door in order to make sure she was safe after she failed to answer.

violation of his right not to be convicted of an uncharged crime. 151 Wn. App. at 124. As in *Jain*, the jury instructions here allowed Mr. Churape-Martinez to be convicted of damage to property different than that alleged in the Information and against a different victim that than alleged in the Information. The violation of Mr. Churape-Martinez' constitutional rights warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

- 2. The prosecutor's flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct violated Mr. Churape-Martinez's right to due process, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).
- a. The prosecutor misstated the law on residential burglary.

A prosecutor commits misconduct by misstating or misrepresenting the law. *State v. Allen*, 182 Wn.2d 364, 373, 341 P.3d 268 (2015); *State v. Walker*, 164 Wn. App. 724, 736, 265 P.3d 191 (2011) ("A prosecutor's misstatement of the law is a serious irregularity having the grave potential to mislead the jury."). Where a prosecutor urges the jury to convict based upon an incorrect understanding of the law, the reviewing court cannot be certain that the jury's verdict rests on a legally valid theory. *State v. Allen*, 127 Wn. App. 125, 137, 116 P.3d 849 (2005).

In this case, the prosecutor argued that the jury should convict Mr. Churape-Martinez for burglary based upon damage to the exterior door and/or criminal trespass when he entered the residence. However, crimes

committed outside the residence cannot serve as the predicate crime for a residential burglary. *See Devitt*, 152 Wn. App. at 913. The State conceded misconduct on appeal, and the Court of Appeals accepted the State's concession. Opinion at 13.

## b. The misconduct was prejudicial.

Prosecutorial misconduct is grounds for reversal where there is a substantial likelihood the improper conduct impacted the jury. *Monday*, 171 Wn.2d at 675. Contrary to the Court of Appeals' conclusion, prosecutor's misrepresentation of law as to an essential element of the crime meets this standard. Opinion at 15.

Over and over again, the prosecutor reiterated that Mr. Churape-Martinez did not need to intend to commit any crime beyond breaking the door and/or entering the home. RP 321-22, 335-36. In urging the jury to use either criminal trespass or damage to the exterior door as predicate crimes for residentially burglary, the prosecutor offered not one, but two, legally erroneous bases to convict Mr. Churape-Martinez.

A limiting instruction could not have cured the prejudice in Mr. Churape-Martinez's case. Any attempt to cure the harm caused by the prosecutor's misstatement of law would have required the court to break down both of the prosecutor's erroneous arguments, address the two criminal acts, and discuss the distinction between intent formed when

11

entering the residence versus intent formed once inside the residence. This would only serve to further confuse the jury.

The jury was operating under multiple misunderstandings of the law when it found Mr. Churape-Martinez guilty. The violation of Mr. Churape-Martinez' right to due process is a significant question of law warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

#### E. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Oscar Churape-Martinez respectfully requests that this Court grant review.