FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/11/2020 4:29 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON

NO. 98717-3

CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

OSCAR CHURAPE-MARTINEZ,

Petitioner.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I Court of Appeals No. 79565-1-I San Juan County Superior Court No. 18-1-05047-0

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RANDALL K. GAYLORD Prosecuting Attorney

RANDALL A. SUTTON
Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

SERVICE

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

V. ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION BECAUSE CHURAPE-MARTINEZ FAILS TO SHOW ANY CONFLICT BETWEEN THE OPINION BELOW AND ANY ESTABLISHED PRECEDENT.

1. Churape-Martinez has failed to show that any conflict exists that would justify acceptance of review under RAP 13.4(b).

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

As to his first claim, Churape-Martinez argues only that the opinion conflicts with a published opinion of the Court of Appeals. He fails to address the reasons why the Court of Appeals rejected the application of the case in question to his claim, however. He further fails to identify any basis at all under RAP 13.4 as to why this Court should review his second claim. As such, he fails to show why review should be granted.

2. The allegation in the information regarding specific property that was the subject of malicious mischief was

not required to be included in the to-convict instruction.

As he did in the Court of Appeals, Churape-Martinez claims that because the information only identified the door, frame or mirror in the information, the to-convict instruction should also have referred to these items. The Court of Appeals rejected this claim because "Churape-Martinez's argument relie[d] on conflation of the respective purposes, and requirements, applicable to the information and to the jury instructions." *Opinion*, at 9. This conclusion was correct.

The basis of Churape-Martinez's claim was that the elements instruction should have reflected the specific pieces of property alleged in the charging document. He cited no relevant authority for the proposition that each fact in a charging document had to be incorporated into the elements instruction.

Instead, Churape-Martinez conflated two disparate legal principles. The first was the law of the case doctrine as applied to jury instructions. That doctrine holds that surplus allegations only become an additional element of the case when they are included in the jury's instructions. *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 102-103, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). Thus, if the State undertakes to prove a specific fact by way of the elements instruction, the evidence must support that factual determination even if the fact is not an element of the offense. *Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d at 101-105.

This is a specific application of the law of the case doctrine. *Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d at 102.

The second principle on which Churape-Martinez relied involves the notification function of a charging document. The purpose of a charging document is to provide notice to the defendant of the charge against him and its factual basis. *State v. Pelkey*, 109 Wn.2d 484, 491, 745 P.2d 854 (1987). The charging document is not a concern for the jury. Its primary purpose is to alert the defendant to the charge and underlying conduct at issue. *Id.* From the jury's perspective, the case is contained in the elements instruction and any accompanying definitional instructions. *State v. Smith*, 131 Wn.2d 258, 262-263, 930 P.2d 917 (1997).

"Jury instructions and charging documents serve different functions." *State v. Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d 782, 788, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995). The Court of Appeals found this observation was dispositive of Churape-Martinez's claim. *Opinion*, at 9. Instead of arguing that the charging document misled him about the actions that constituted the crime with which he was charged, Churape-Martinez argued that those factual allegations needed to be included in the charging document lest he be convicted of a crime other than that with which he was charged.

The elements of the crime of third-degree malicious mischief as charged were that Churape-Martinez "on or about September 26, 2018, ...

knowingly and maliciously caused physical damage to the property of another." CP at 38. These elements reflected those required by the statute and the date of the offense identified in the charging document. CP at 5. The evidence adduced at trial showed only one continuing course of conduct where Churape-Martinez broke into the Morrison's home and damaged property therein. See State v. Schaffer, 63 Wn. App. 761, 770, 822 P.2d 292 (1991), aff'd, 120 Wn.2d 616 (1993). There was no evidence that Churape-Martinez damaged property at any other location on that date.

This is a far cry from the case Churape-Martinez relied on now and in the Court of Appeals. In *State v. Jain*, 151 Wn. App. 117, 210 P.3d 1061 (2009), the defendant had been charged with two counts of money laundering involving the transfer of two specific pieces of real estate, but the evidence at trial established that he transferred seven different properties that same day. *Jain*, 151 Wn. App. at 120-121, 123. Because there were seven possible money laundering offenses, although only two were charged, the defendant's right to unanimous jury verdicts was infringed by the failure to require either a unanimity instruction or to elect which property transfers the prosecutor was relying on. *Jain*, 151 Wn. App. at 124. The *Jain* court, however, expressly rejected the argument made here by Churape-Martinez: "There simply is no requirement for the

'to convict' instructions to contain a statement of the type of specified unlawful activity underlying the charge of money laundering." *Jain*, 151 Wn. App. at 128-129.

This case is not *Jain*. There was no evidence indicating multiple incidents of malicious mischief by Churape-Martinez on September 26, 2018. The prosecutor was thus not required to identify (by elements instruction, unanimity instruction, or election during closing argument) which instance of trafficking in stolen property he was relying on. The Court of Appeals thus properly rejected Churape-Martinez's reliance on *Jain* and *State v. Brown*, 45 Wn. App. 571, 726 P.2d 60 (1986). *Opinion*, at 12-13. Churape-Martinez fails to show any conflict warranting this Court's review.

3. Churape-Martinez failed to show prejudice from the prosecutor's brief misstatement regarding the law of burglary.

Relying on *State v. Garcia*, 179 Wn.2d 828, 849, 318 P.3d 266 (2014), Churape-Martinez argued below that the prosecutor's discussion of the elements of burglary wherein she suggested that trespass could be the underlying crime was misconduct warranting reversal. However, given that there was no objection below to the argument, the Court of Appeals properly found that he had failed to meet his high burden of showing prejudice.

To establish prosecutorial misconduct, a defendant must show that the prosecutor's remarks were improper and prejudicial. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). "Once a defendant establishes that a prosecutor's statements are improper, we determine whether the defendant was prejudiced under one of two standards of review. If the defendant objected at trial, the defendant must show that the prosecutor's misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict." *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760. If the defendant failed to object at trial, the defendant waives any error, unless the prosecutor's remarks were so flagrant and ill intentioned that no instruction could have cured the resulting prejudice. *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760–61. "Under this heightened standard, the defendant must show that (1) 'no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury' and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that 'had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict." Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 761 (quoting State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 455, 258 P.3d 43 (2011)). This Court reviews a prosecutor's improper remarks during closing in the context of the entire argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions to the jury. State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 552, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012).

The State conceded below that the prosecutor briefly misstated the

law. *Brief of Respondent*, at 19. It nevertheless argued that the present case was clearly distinguishable from *Garcia*.

In the present case, there was no objection to the argument at trial. The trial court specifically instructed the jury to disregard arguments not supported by the law as given in the instructions. CP 23. The court also properly instructed the jury as to the definitions and elements of burglary. CP 32, 33. Further, despite the comment that Churape-Martinez now objects to, the prosecutor emphasized proper underlying crimes in her initial closing:

Putting Ms. Bradley in -- threatening her and taking control of her person, the crime of unlawful imprisonment, is a crime against a person therein.

Breaking the mirror in the home is another crime. Breaking the fan, trashing the home, any of those actions that he took in that home constitute the crime of residential burglary because, as Mr. Morrison told you, he did not have license or privilege to enter or be in that home without him there.

2TRP 321-22. Finally, had Churape-Martinez objected at trial a simple instruction could have corrected the misstatement.

The problem in *Garcia* was that the prosecutor's comments "magnified" the prejudice from the improper admission under ER 609 of prior burglary convictions, requiring reversal. *Garcia*, 179 Wn.2d at 846-49. Nevertheless, under circumstances comparable to the present case, the Court in *Garcia* held that reversal would not have been required:

Alone, the prosecutor's misstatement is not a reversible error. If a defendant fails to object to the prosecutor's error at trial, the error is waived unless the defendant "establishes that the misconduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction would not have cured the prejudice." *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704, 286 P.3d 673. Garcia fails to establish that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice. The trial court instructed the jury to disregard arguments not supported by the law as given in the jury instructions. It also instructed the jury as to the correct elements of burglary.

Garcia, 179 Wn.2d at 849 n.1.

Churape-Martinez failed to object to the prosecutor's comments. Had he done so, the misstatement could easily have been cured. Further, as noted in the quoted passage in *Garcia*, the trial court cautioned that arguments contrary to the law given in the instructions should be disregarded, and gave correct instructions regarding residential burglary. As such, the Court of Appeals properly concluded that Churape-Martinez failed to show the prejudice required to reverse:

In light of the abundant evidence supporting the jury's guilty verdict, and in light of the jury's proper instruction on the elements of residential burglary, Churape-Martinez does not show any prejudice resulting from the asserted instance of prosecutorial misconduct. Thus, his claim fails.

Opinion, at 15.

In his present petition, Churape-Martinez fails to even cite a case he alleges conflicts with the opinion below on this issue. Nor does he cite any other basis upon which review could be granted. His petition should be denied.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the Court deny Churape-Martinez's petition for review.